THE HISTORIC ARCHITECTURE OF MORAY
Ronald G. Cant

In this paper the term ‘historic architecture’ has been taken, arbitrarily
perhaps but conveniently, to cover the period from the early twelfth cen-
tury onwards when Moray came to be effectively absorbed into the medi-
eval Scottish kingdom, itself being integrated into a pattern of life
developed in most parts of Europe in what has sometimes been called ‘the
medieval renaissance’.

In terms of orgdnisation this pattern involved four major elements. First
was the authority of the King of Scots based on royal castles like those of
Elgin and Forres under such officers as constables or sheriffs. Second,
associated with certain castles, were settlements of merchants and crafts-
men that might (as at Elgin and Forres) develop into organised urban
communities or burghs. Third, in the surrounding countryside, were the
defensible dwellings of greater and lesser lords holding lands and authority
directly or indirectly from the king and ultimately answerable to him.
Fourth was the medieval church, an international organisation under the
Pope but enjoying a certain autonomy in each of the countries in which it
functioned and closely associated with these other elements at every level.

Kings, Barons, and Burghers

Each element in this ‘medieval order’ had its distinctive building require-
ments. For the king control of the previously strongly independent regional
dominion of Moray stretching from west of the River Ness to east of the
Spey was secured by the building of castles (with associated sheriffs) at
Inverness, Nairn, Forres, and Elgin. Beyond the Spey was another at Banff
but in civil affairs most of the area there had little direct association with
Moray until comparatively recently, while in the west Inverness became
the seat of a different and more extensive authority. In ecclesiastical organ-
isation, however, Moray survived to its full traditional extent as a diocese
of the medieval church, identifiable from at least 1120.

It was, then, the castle of Elgin that became the chief centre of royal
authority here from the ‘conquest of Moray’ by King David I in 1130; and
with the selection of a site nearby as the centre of the diocese in 1224 its
dominance in the life of the area became clearly paramount. Like most
medieval castle sites that of Elgin made use of a natural feature, the ‘Lady
Hill’, rising steeply to the south of the flood-plain of the River Lossie and
commanding on its southern side a level plateau on which an associated
burgh could be located. As first planned this seems to have formed a
rectangular enclosure some 550 metres long by 250 metres wide with the
Castle at its north-west corner and the burgher houses arranged along a
single longitudinal street.
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David for Cistercian monks from Melrose ¢.1150, but unlikely to have
secured buildings of this quality until late in the century. In 1206 Bishop
Brice de Douglas obtained authority from the Pope to establish a proper
cathedral (and associated chapter) at Spynie, but before this plan could be
fully implemented King William died (1214) and his successor Alexander
IT seems to have prompted the construction of a much larger building on
a new site just to the east of Elgin.

This was the church of the Holy Trinity (the patron of the diocese for
some time already), a cruciform structure the choir and transepts of which
were inaugurated as Elgin Cathedral in 1224. Parts of the early fabric
survive in the south transept gable and the lower stages of the western
towers, the architecture a mingling of romanesque and early gothic details
carved in ashlar by masons from southern Scotland but in walling other-
wise of local traditional rubble. Yet the over-all concept as completed after
afire in 1270 was of more international provenance, the twin-towered nave
with its double aisles of French inspiration and the extended choir and
octagonal chapter-house English, but blended in a form wholly appro-
priate to its locality and function (Fig.11.3). Surrounding it was a walled
precinct known as ‘the College of the Chanonry’, containing the manses
of its associated clergy, maintained (to a regrettable extent) by the ‘appro-
priation’ of parochial teinds throughout the diocese.

Rivalling Elgin Cathedral in the scale and elegance of its component
parts yet never completed to its original design was the Priory of Pluscarden
founded for monks of the French Valliscaulian order by King Alexander
IT in 1230. But if the building in its present form derives much of its
character from late medieval improvisations and modern restorations it is
nevertheless one of the finest examples of a medieval abbey to be seen in
Scotland, in a setting moreover of exceptional natural beauty.

Climax and Decline of the Medieval Order

The reigns of Alexander II (1214-49) and Alexander III (1249-86) formed
a period of consolidation when the changes effected in Scotland, and
Moray in particular, developed into a more homogeneous and harmonious
pattern. In the two main centres of royal authority here, at Elgin and
Forres, the timber structures of the castles would now be replaced by
stone — in which the parish churches would have been built from the
outset. But as burghal growth seems to have been relatively limited there
would be no thought of replacing or enlarging them until a later period.
Stone houses, too, were as yet a rarity and self-government concerned
mainly with the regulation of trading activities by the merchant guild.

By the close of the thirteenth century the Comyns had erected the
great stone-walled fastness of Lochindorb in Brae Moray and there are
suggestions that the Morays or Murrays might have effected a comparable
transformation of their motte and bailey counterpart in the Laich but
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more probably not until rather later. By this time the political situation in
Moray, as in Scotland generally, had been profoundly altered by the
succession crisis of 1290 and the attempted subordination of the northern
kingdom to the English monarchy by Edward I and his successors.
Although the attempt failed, the long struggle — in which Moray was
crucially involved — weakened the ability of later Scottish kings to main-
tain control of their realm.

The situation was further complicated by the arrival of two new dyn-
asties (though descended from the old royal house), that of Bruce from
1306 to 1371 and of Stewart thereafter. And while King Robert I had
undoubtedly saved the independence of his realm, the redistribution of
lands and authority that resulted from what was in part a civil war left
problems that would endure for long thereafter. In the case of Moray, the
title of Earl, with much of the associated lands and jurisdictions, was
conferred on Thomas Randolph, one of King Robert’s principal lieuten-
ants, but at the expense of families like the Comyns who seized every
opportunity to reassert their former influence. The chief failing of the
Randolph family, however, was its lack of dynastic continuity, though
under John Dunbar, Earl from 1372 to 1391, it made a magnificent
addition to its castle of Darnaway in the great hall that has now been
scientifically dated to this period, as discussed elsewhere in this volume.

By contrast, the greatest threat to the wellbeing of Moray in the later
fourteenth century came from within the new royal house in the person
of Alexander Stewart, brother of King Robert III, who in 1390, from
Lochindorb, ravaged first Forres and then Elgin, so severely damaging the
cathedral as to necessitate the reconstruction of the chapter house and
central tower, with the loss of the three-spired profile that had been one
of its finest features. His career is discussed in this volume by Alexander
Grant. In 1424, however, a more effective period of royal government
began under James I, and although the reigns of each of his like-named
successors began with a minority, there was a steady growth in the power
of the crown, especially under James II who in 1455 destroyed the threat
of the house of Douglas in Moray as in southern Scotland, redistributing
its lands to ‘new’ great lords like the Gordon Earls of Huntly and lairds
associated with the royal service.

Burghs, Churches, and Castles of the last Medieval Phase

The period 1400-1560 was marked by considerable development of the
burghs. As these had originally been laid out on a fairly generous scale
their later growth was not so much in area — though both Elgin and
Forres expanded eastwards at this time — but in the character of their
buildings. These were now increasingly of stone, of two main storeys, with
‘crowstepped’ gables, dormer windows, and pends leading through to closes
at the back. Among the first of these was the Great Lodging of the king

210



in Elgin, replacing the royal residence in the castle destroyed in the War
of Independence. The Lodging would subsequently pass into private hands
as Thunderton House but parts of the original fabric survive to this day.
Otherwise most of the structures of this type still to be seen belong to the
late fifteenth, sixteenth, and seventeenth centuries and will be discussed
later.

In the centre of the High Street, adjacent to the parish church of St.
Giles, was the Market Place and Tolbooth, the sturdy tower and spire of
the last perhaps already in existence by this time. Most Scottish burghs
continued to be served by a single church enlarged or re-built in this
period — as would be necessary here in any event after the disaster of 1390.
A severe gothic cruciform structure with unaisled choir and transepts, low
central tower, and an aisled nave of five bays, the new St Giles would serve
the community for four centuries and come to occupy a special place
in its affections but had perhaps more character than elegance as an
architectural design.

Little is known of the corresponding Church of St. Laurence at Forres,
but the lower (stone) part of the old Tolbooth tower might date from this
period, both communities having become ‘royal burghs’ with extensive
powers of self-government under the crown in their town councils, mer-
chant guilds, and craft organisations. As the larger urban centre Elgin also
attracted such new religious orders as the Dominicans and Franciscans
(Black and Grey Friars) who, unlike the more conservative monks, did
not cut themselves off from contact with the ordinary world but wrestled
with its problems. Both were in Elgin in the thirteenth century but their
principal architectural legacy was the church of the revived Franciscan
foundation of 1479, a simple but elegant structure admirably restored by
John Kinross for the 3rd Marquess of Bute in 1896.

For the smaller communities of the countryside parish churches were of
more modest character but when King Robert I’s wife Elizabeth died at
Cullen in 1327 he endowed a chaplainry in her memory, an example
followed by other benefactors until in 1543 the whole group of clergy
acquired corporate status as the provost and prebendaries of a ‘collegiate
church’. These ‘chantry foundations’ were characterised by special chapels
and sepulchral monuments of remarkable elaboration. More represen-
tative, however, of country churches is the long plain building at Duffus
(widened after the Reformation) with a fine vaulted porch of 1524 and,
like several others in Moray, a kirkyard cross that may have served as a
market centre.

These country churches depended much on the support of the local
landowner whose primary concern, understandably, was with his own
residence. Among the most important in Moray of the fifteenth century
was that usually known as Gordon Castle, begun by the 2nd Earl of Huntly
in 1479 for what was then becoming the greatest family of north-east
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Scotland. Completed in the sixteenth century and largely re-built in the
eighteenth, all that remains of its one-time splendour is a single gaunt
tower six storeys high. By contrast the massive tower-house added to
Spynie Palace by Bishop David Stewart in 1461-75 as a defence against
this same Earl still forms part of the most impressive episcopal stronghold
in Scotland. The Gordons themselves had another castle at Auchindoun
to the east of Dufftown that for a century before its burning in 1591
completely dominated the short hill routes giving access to Moray from
the east.

Reformation and Renaissance

In 1560 a coalition of Scottish nobles favourable to a reform of the church,
with English naval and military assistance, overthrew the government of
the Queen Mother, Mary of Lorraine. Just two years before, in 1558, by
the marriage of her daughter Mary Queen of Scots to the future King
Francis II, Scotland had passed under French control from which it was
now freed. And when the Scottish queen, after the death of her husband,
returned to her own country in 1561 she found it impossible to alter this
general situation. Although the Reformed Church failed to recover more
than part of the parochial teinds, especially those appropriated to monastic
houses, now mainly under the control of Protestant nobles, it was never-
theless the only church permitted to function in the land, and by 1600 its
dominance was almost complete. In such places as the Enzie and the Braes
of Glenlivet, however, geographical and political circumstances enabled
the old faith to survive, precariously, over the next two centuries.

On certain fundamental issues, especially the functioning of the church
at parochial level, the Reformers were at one, but on the nature of its
higher government — whether by a form of episcopacy like that of England
or a system of courts (generally known as Presbyterianism) — and its
relations with the civil government there was controversy. With the details
we are not concerned here but it may be noted that from the early 1600’s
to 1638, and again from 1661 to 1689, the polity of the ‘established church’
was Episcopal and from 1638 to 1661 and from 1690 onwards Presbyterian.
In actual practice these alternations made little difference to the character
of church buildings or their use, only a small element in the Episcopal
party inclining in this period to services of a liturgical character like those
in the Church of England.

Between 1560 and 1690, then, the typical parish church was the medieval
building (or its nave) re-furnished so as to accommodate a ‘congregation’
gathered round the two focal points of pulpit and communion table. In
larger buildings like St. Giles’ Elgin lofts or galleries were inserted by the
town council, guildry, and trades, and in country churches by the local
lairds. In Moray the only completely new church to be built in this period
was that of Drainie, grudgingly provided by the heritors of the parish in
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nates by ‘architects’ familiar with stylistic developments elsewhere in
Europe but themselves, for the most part, products of the indigenous
building traditions of their own country. Among these were such well-
established families as the Mylnes and the Smiths (from Forres), joined in
the opening years of the eighteenth century by William Adam (1689-1748)
whose influence would be continued for a further generation by his sons
John (1721-92), Robert (1728-92), and James (1731-94). But despite the
special respect in which they and others of the kind might be held, the
distinction between ‘architect’ and ‘builder’ was sensibly blurred and some
of the most pleasing designs of the period were by unrecorded master-
masons.

While the parliamentary union of Scotland with England — following
on the ‘regal union’ of 1603 — inevitably reduced the distinctive identity
of the smaller country, and architects like Robert and James Adam and
James Gibb or Gibbs (1682-1754) followed the nobility, politicians, and
other Scots in making their careers mainly in the south, life in an area like
Moray retained a vigorous identity of its own for some time to come.
Nevertheless, as in previous periods, it was to be expected that innovations
should come mainly from outside, albeit in response to local initiative.
Among the most ambitious clients of the elder Adam was a nouveau riche
family of Moray banker-politicians, the Duffs of Braco, who in 1730, in
their ascent to the peerage (as Earls of Fife) commissioned the vast and
ornate classical mansion of Duff House at Banff — deliberately outside
the milieu in which they had risen to affluence. More representative,
however, was the New House of Balvenie designed for them by James
Gibbs in 1722 (but demolished in 1929).

Among surviving country houses of the ensuing period the most pleasing
tend to be those of moderate size like the re-casting of Moy to a plan by
John Adam (c.1762), Dalvey (c.1770), or Invererne (1818) (Fig.11.7), all
near Forres. The three largest mansions are, by contrast, somewhat dis-
appointing. At Gordon Castle little now remains of the enormously
extended facade added by John Baxter in 1769 to the remodelled tower-
house of its ducal proprietor and representations of it when complete
suggest an ‘unresolved duality’ between horizontal and vertical emphasis.
At Gordonstoun, the massive central block inserted between earlier wings
in 1775 composes rather better and features impressively in the formal
landscape in which it is set. At Darnaway the new building by Alexander
Laing that in 1802-12 replaced the ancient stronghold of the Earls of
Moray — apart from its great hall — includes restrained castellations in
its external design, though more as a polite historical allusion than mere
pretence, in a composition of some merit on its own account. In a class by
itself is Robert Adam’s severe (but appropriate) garden front of Let-
terfourie (1773).

As landed proprietors these great magnates and lesser lairds were
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activities, the Royal Bank of 1876 (by Peddie and Kinnear) being only the
most outstanding. These were continued southwards, by Commerce and
Batchen Streets, into the corresponding part of South Street and from
1840 onwards the area beyond (mainly in municipal control) was laid out
for further extensions.

It was here that several of the churches and public buildings of Victorian
Elgin would come to be sited. Already in 1824 a new gothic Episcopal
Church of Holy Trinity had been built by William Robertson, skilfully
closing the vista of North Street from the town centre. In the southern
development an even more emphatic focal point was supplied by the spired
South Church (a gothic design of 1852 by A & W Reid for a second Free
Church to supplement the High Church of 1843). The Reids also provided
the United Presbyterians (in 1858) with the towered building in Moss
Street, still a feature of the Elgin townscape. Less ambitious but with a
charm of its own is Thomas Mackenzie’s Roman Catholic Church of St
Sylvester (1844) at the head of Duff Avenue. Among public buildings of
the area (all in Moray Street) were the new Elgin Academy of 1885, a
classical design by A & W Reid, the huge baronial Town Hall, also of
1885, by A M Mackenzie (burned out in 1939 and later demolished), and
the ‘Richardson romanesque’ Victoria School of Science and Art of 1890
by G Sutherland.

If much of the character of Victorian Forres and Elgin is derived from
their churches, this is even more true of Buckie which has as its most
prominent feature the twin-spired Roman Catholic Church of St. Peter (by
A and W Reid and Bishop James Kyle 1850-7) (Fig.11.11). Of comparable
merit, however, are the crown-towered North Parish Church (Duncan
MacMillan 1880) and the fastidiously detailed All Saints Episcopal Church
(Alexander Ross 1875). At Lossiemouth, too, the sturdy tower, white
walls, and red roof of St Gerardine’s Parish Church (Sir John Burnet 1901)
seem entirely appropriate to its location and stand out dramatically in
more distant views. The principal churches of Keith have already been
described. But the most influential unifying factor here was provided by
the strong architectural character of Mid Street in New Keith, and by two
buildings in particular — the North Church (originally Free, by A & W
Reid 1845-6) and the Institute with its elegant clock-tower (F D Robertson
1885-9).

Despite the proliferation of country mansions in the Georgian era,
Victorian landowners had both the inclination and resources to add to
their number or engage in massive reconstructions and extensions of earlier
buildings. Among new designs architects of the locality were deservedly
prominent, William Robertson’s classical Aberlour (1838) being followed
by Thomas Mackenzie’s grandly romantic Drummuir (1847), and, as the
century ended, by the baronial ostentation of what is now the Rothes Glen
Hotel (Alexander Ross 1896). To this same general locality Robertson
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